RECEIVED

Sep 01 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001185

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent,

versus

MARK HAMILTON,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO: 2025-001185

Cameron J. Blazer
Ninth Circuit Public Defender
101 Meeting St., 5th Floor
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1850
Attorney for Mark Hamilton

September 1, 2026

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in denying Hamilton a resentencing hearing under *Miller v. Alabama* and *Aiken v. Byers* when Hamilton, sentenced as a juvenile to life imprisonment, has been repeatedly denied parole based on immutable offense characteristics, rendering the sentence a functional equivalent of life without parole in violation of the Eighth Amendment?
- II. Did the trial court err in holding that South Carolina's parole system provides constitutionally adequate review under *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, *Miller v. Alabama*, and *Aiken v. Byars* when the Parole Board's framework systematically ignores *Miller* factors, has never been updated to comply with *Montgomery*, and cannot provide the individualized sentencing assessment that only the sentencing court can properly conduct?
- III. Did the trial court err in holding that resentencing would usurp the Parole Board's authority when a resentencing hearing is the necessary constitutional remedy for Eighth Amendment violations that cannot be cured through a parole process structurally incapable of providing review compliant with *Miller*?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 1993, Mark Hamilton (“Hamilton”) was convicted of murder following a jury trial. Hamilton’s conviction arose from his involvement, along with three other teenage co-defendants, in the beating death of Ralph “Gary” Sineath. R. p. 186. Hamilton was seventeen at the time of the offense but was tried as an adult. The state proceeded at trial under a “hand-of-one-hand-of-all” theory of accomplice liability. The law in effect at the time of his conviction provided only for a sentence of life imprisonment or death. R. p. 190 . Hamilton was sentenced on June 16, 1993, by the Honorable Luke M. Brown to imprisonment “for the balance of your natural life.” *Id.* Hamilton unsuccessfully challenged his conviction and sentence through direct appeal and post-conviction actions.

Hamilton has been continuously incarcerated since his conviction and is presently confined at Perry Correctional Institution in the South Carolina Department of Corrections. Under the law in effect at the time of his arrest, Hamilton became eligible for parole after the service of twenty years of imprisonment and is entitled to a parole hearing every two years. As of this date, Hamilton has been denied parole seven times, most recently on March 12, 2025. R. p. 201.

On January 30, 2023, Hamilton filed a Motion for Resentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*. On August 22, 2023, the Court appointed counsel to represent Hamilton. The State filed a response in opposition to Hamilton’s Motion for Resentencing on March 12, 2025, arguing that the Motion should be dismissed with prejudice and resolved on the pleadings without a hearing. Hamilton filed a Response to the State’s Motion to Dismiss on April 3, 2025. A hearing on Hamilton’s motion was held on April 8, 2025, before the Court of General Sessions.

On June 4, 2025, the trial court issued an order denying Hamilton’s Motion for Resentencing. That court found that Hamilton, having received a life sentence rather than life

without parole (“LWOP”), did “not fit within the ambit of juvenile offenders eligible for re-sentencing under *Miller* and *Aiken*.” R. p. 253. The trial court further concluded that Hamilton’s opportunity for release was a matter within the authority of the Parole Board, not the court. The court further held that Hamilton’s seven parole denials did not, “in and of itself,” deny Hamilton meaningful review. R. p. 256. Hamilton timely filed his Notice of Appeal on June 13, 2025.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When considering whether a sentence violates the Eight Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishments, the appellate court’s standard of review extends only to the correction of errors of law.” *State v. Finley*, 427 S.C. 419, 423 (2019). The appellate court will not disturb the circuit court’s findings absent a manifest abuse of discretion, which occurs when the circuit court’s ruling is based on an error of law or grounded in unsupported factual conclusions. *State v. Johnson*, 413 S.C. 458, 466 (2015).

ARGUMENT

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides “excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, *nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted*.” U.S. Const. amend. VIII (emphasis added). South Carolina’s constitutional counterpart provides even broader protection, prohibiting punishment that is cruel *or* corporal *or* unusual. S.C. Const. art. I, § 15. In this vein, sentences that are grossly out of proportion to the severity of the crime are unconstitutional. *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 59-60 (2010). The scope of Eighth Amendment protections is not static but “must draw its meaning from the evolving standards of decency that

mark the progress of a maturing society.” *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 538 (2014) (citing *Trop v. Dulles*, 356 U.S. 86, 101 (1958) (plurality opinion)).

Beginning in 2005, the United States Supreme Court recognized that juvenile offenders require different and more protective constitutional considerations at sentencing. *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 511, 551 (2005). This recognition was grounded in the understanding that children possess diminished moral culpability and that “only a relatively small proportion of adolescents who engage in illegal activity develop entrenched patterns of problem behavior.” *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 471 (2012). In *Miller*, the Court held that sentencing courts must “take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” *Id.* at 480. The Court identified the difficulty of distinguishing “the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” *Id.* at 479-80. Before imposing a sentence of LWOP on a juvenile offender, sentencing courts must consider youth as more than a chronological fact; they must consider the defendant’s immaturity, family background, mental and emotional development, the circumstances of the offense, and the possibility of rehabilitation. *Id.* at 476-83.

The South Carolina Supreme Court in *Aiken v. Byars* held that “before a life without parole sentence is imposed upon a juvenile offender he must receive an individualized hearing where the mitigating hallmark features of youth are fully explored.” *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 545. *Aiken* established five factors for courts to consider, mirroring and elaborating on Miller’s requirements. *Id.* at 544. The Court further held that any pre-*Aiken* LWOP sentence was unconstitutional because youth carries special constitutional weight that could not have been properly considered before *Aiken*’s guidance. *Id.* at 543, n.8.

Two years after *Aiken* was decided, the U.S. Supreme Court revisited *Miller* in *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 577 U.S. 190 (2016), holding as *Aiken* did that *Miller* should be given retroactive effect. The *Montgomery* court endorsed automatic parole consideration for juveniles as an alternative to resentencing: “Allowing those offenders to be considered for parole ensures that juveniles whose crimes reflected only transient immaturity—and who have since matured—will not be forced to serve a disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment.” This endorsement inherently presupposes that juveniles considered for parole will have their review governed by the principles laid out in *Miller*.

This appeal addresses a critical issue left unresolved by *Miller*, *Aiken*, and their progeny: what remedy is available to a juvenile offender whose life sentence is the functional equivalent of life without parole because of a parole system that has not been adjusted to address the constitutional issues laid out in *Miller*? Hamilton was seventeen years old at the time of his offense. He received a life sentence with parole eligibility after twenty years, but he has now been denied parole seven times over more than a decade of parole-eligible incarceration. The trial court denied Hamilton’s motion for resentencing under *Aiken*, concluding that because his sentence was not technically LWOP, he was ineligible for the individualized sentencing hearing that *Miller* and *Aiken* guarantee. This ruling allows the State to evade constitutional requirements through mere labeling while subjecting Hamilton to a parole system that systematically ignores the features of his youth and renders his sentence indistinguishable from LWOP. At fifty-two years old, Hamilton has still never received the individualized assessment of his juvenility that the Constitution demands. The trial court’s order promotes form over substance and denies Hamilton the meaningful opportunity for release that *Montgomery* requires in the absence of a resentencing hearing.

I. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Hamilton a Resentencing Hearing Under *Miller v. Alabama* and *Aiken v. Byars*

A. *Miller* and *Aiken* Require Individualized Consideration of Youth Before Imposing the Harshest Penalties on Juvenile Offenders

In *Miller*, the Supreme Court held that mandatory LWOP sentences for juveniles violate the Eighth Amendment because they prevent sentencing courts from considering the “mitigating qualities of youth.” *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 476. The Court reasoned that “youth is more than a chronological fact” and that the “imposition of a State’s most severe penalties on juvenile offenders cannot proceed as though they were not children.” *Id.* at 476-774. *Miller* established as a “substantive rule of constitutional law” that before a court sentences a juvenile to LWOP, it must first conduct an individualized hearing that “take[s] into account how children are different, and how these differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” *Id.* at 480; *Montgomery*, 577 U.S. at 208. The purpose of this individualized hearing, where “‘youth and its attendant characteristics’ are considered as sentencing factors,” is to “separate those juveniles who may be sentenced to life without parole from those who may not.” *Montgomery*, 577 U.S. at 208. While *Miller* did not rule out LWOP sentences for juvenile offenders completely, such sentences should be “uncommon” and reserved only for “the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.” *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 479-80 (*quoting Roper* at 573).

Two years after *Miller*, the South Carolina Supreme Court held in *Aiken* that *Miller* applies retroactively and “does more than ban mandatory life sentencing schemes for juveniles; it establishes an affirmative requirement that courts fully explore the impact of the defendant’s juvenility on the sentence rendered.” *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 540-44. The Court found that “it is the failure of a sentencing court to consider the hallmark features of youth prior to sentencing that offends the Constitution.” *Id.* at 543. Accordingly, juveniles sentenced to LWOP must be given an

opportunity for resentencing to show that their crimes “did not reflect irreparable corruption,” and, if successful, “their hope for some years of life outside prison walls must be restored.” *Montgomery* at 213.

Hamilton was sentenced to a term of life imprisonment in 1993 for an offense he committed at age seventeen, without any individualized hearing examining how his juvenility should impact his sentence. The sentencing judge had no discretion to consider these factors; the law in effect at the time provided only for life imprisonment or death. Hamilton’s age was treated as nothing more than a “chronological fact,” rather than a constitutionally significant factor requiring meaningful consideration. *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 476 (quoting *Eddings v. Oklahoma*, 455 U.S. 104, 115 (1982)). Indeed, the transcript of the original sentencing hearing reveals nothing more than the most cursory consideration of Hamilton as an individual. R. p. 190. Under *Aiken*, Hamilton is entitled to a resentencing hearing where the court must “fully explore the impact of [his] juvenility on the sentence rendered” and determine whether his crime reflected the “irreparable corruption” necessary to justify a sentence of life imprisonment. *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 543; *Montgomery*, 577 U.S. at 213. The trial court’s conclusion in denying his bid for resentencing that Hamilton does “not fall within the ambit of juvenile offenders eligible for resentencing under *Miller* and *Aiken*” misapprehends the constitutional violation. It is not the formal label of the sentence, but the absence of individualized consideration of youth that offends Hamilton’s rights under the Eighth Amendment.

B. Hamilton’s Life Sentence is the Functional Equivalent of Life Without Parole

The Eighth Amendment protections guaranteed to juvenile offenders should not depend on a sentence being formally designated as LWOP. In *Miller*, the Court categorized LWOP as akin to the death penalty because both punishments “[i]mprison[] an offender until he dies” and “alter[]

the remainder of his life by a forfeiture that is irrevocable.” *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 474-75. In *Graham*, the Court explained that LWOP “forswears altogether the rehabilitative ideal” and “makes an irrevocable judgment about that person’s value and place in society”—a judgement that “is not appropriate in light of a juvenile...offender’s capacity for change and limited moral culpability.” *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 74. This Court has recognized that under the State’s parole system, juveniles who are “*technically* eligible for parole” may face “the continuing denial of parole based on the same factors, all unchangeable and related to their offenses,” which “gives no guidance to these inmates about what can be done to improve their chances of parole and *is very nearly equivalent to being ineligible for parole.*” *Buchanan v. Dep’t of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Serv’s*, 442 S.C. 393, 406 (2023) (emphasis added). Accordingly, a sentence that theoretically allows for parole but provides no realistic opportunity for release fails to satisfy the constitutional premises of *Miller* and *Aiken*.

Recent research has demonstrated that South Carolina’s parole system systematically denies juvenile offenders a meaningful opportunity for release. A comprehensive study analyzing all South Carolina parole hearings from 2006 to 2016 found that the Parole Board imposed a “youth tax;” they were significantly less likely to grant parole to individuals who committed offenses as juveniles. David M. N. Garavito, Amelia C. Hritz, & John H. Blume, *The Youth Tax in Parole Hearings*, 75 S.C. L. REV. 841, 846, 871 (2024). The Board was 18% less likely to grant parole to juvenile offenders (under age 18) compared to others who committed their first offense at age 18 or older. *Id.* at 871. Even compared to “youthful” offenders (aged 18-20), juvenile offenders faced significantly worse outcomes and were 28% less likely to receive parole. *Id.* This “youth tax” stands in stark contrast to Supreme Court precedent recognizing that the hallmark characteristics of youth warrant additional *protections* for juvenile offenders, not additional

punishment. *Id.* at 846. When a parole system penalizes the very trait that the Constitution demands be treated as mitigating, any theoretical possibility of parole becomes illusory.

South Carolina's parole system has transformed Hamilton's life sentence into the functional equivalent of LWOP. Hamilton, now fifty-two years old, has spent his entire adult life in prison for an offense committed at age seventeen. He became parole-eligible in 2013 and has appeared before the Board seven times. R. p. 202. Despite three decades of imprisonment, during which he has had ample opportunity to demonstrate rehabilitation and maturity, the Board has denied his release seven times. The Board's documented pattern of granting parole to juvenile offenders at a rate nearly 30% lower than comparable adult offenders both explains Hamilton's repeated denials and transforms his life sentence into de facto LWOP. Rather than affording Hamilton the benefit of constitutional principles recognizing youth as a mitigating factor, the State's parole system penalizes him for the very characteristic that should counsel in favor of his release. This makes Hamilton's opportunity for release anything but meaningful and means that he faces an irrevocable sentence that "forswears altogether the rehabilitative ideal" and denies him any realistic hope of life outside prison walls. *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 74. The trial court's conclusion that Hamilton's "opportunity for release was a matter within the authority of the Parole Board, not the court," and that his seven parole denials did not "in and of itself" deny meaningful review ignores the constitutional issues in both his original sentence and the parole system's systemic failure to honor the principles of *Miller* and *Aiken*.

C. Hamilton is Entitled to a Resentencing Hearing Under *Aiken v. Byars*

In *Aiken*, the South Carolina Supreme Court held that "the principles enunciated in *Miller v. Alabama* apply retroactively to these petitioners, to those similarly situated, and prospectively to all juvenile offenders who may be subject to a sentence of life imprisonment without the

possibility of parole.” *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 545. The Court provided that “*any individual affected by our holding* may file a motion for resentencing within one year from the filing of this opinion in the court of general sessions where he or she was originally sentenced.” *Id.* (emphasis added).

The *Aiken* Court’s use of sweeping language– “*any individual affected by our holding*”– reflects an intent to provide meaningful relief to *all* juvenile offenders whose sentences violate the Eighth Amendment as articulated by *Miller*. *Id.* (emphasis added). Restricting *Aiken*’s holding to cases formally denominated as LWOP elevates form over substance and undermines *Miller*’s core premise that sentences for juveniles must account for the constitutional significance of youth, not merely comply with technical labeling requirements. *See Miller*, 567 U.S. at 473-74, 479 (“By removing youth from the balance–by subjecting a juvenile to the same life-without parole sentence applicable to an adult–these laws prohibit a sentencing authority from assessing whether the law’s harshest term of imprisonment proportionately punishes a juvenile offender;” “By making youth (and all that accompanies it) irrelevant to the imposition of that harshest prison sentence, such a scheme poses too great a risk of disproportionate punishment.”) The protections offered by *Miller* should be triggered by the sentence’s practical effect on the juvenile offender, not by its formal designation.

Hamilton falls squarely within the class of “individuals affected by” *Aiken*’s holding. *Id.* He was sentenced to life imprisonment for a crime he committed at age seventeen, under a sentencing scheme that provided only for life or death, affording the trial court no opportunity to consider the mitigating qualities of his youth. Hamilton’s seven parole denials, coupled with the parole system’s documented bias against juvenile offenders, render his sentence the functional equivalent of LWOP. To restrict *Aiken*’s application only to sentences formally labeled as LWOP would create an arbitrary distinction untethered from the constitutional concerns underlying

Miller. The trial court’s conclusion that Hamilton does “not fall within the ambit of juvenile offenders eligible for resentencing under *Miller* and *Aiken*” puts the semantic label of his sentence over its practical reality. This narrow interpretation frustrates the remedial purpose of *Aiken* and *Miller*, denying Hamilton the individualized resentencing hearing to which he is constitutionally owed. Therefore, Hamilton is “entitled to resentencing to allow [him] to present evidence specific to [his] attributes of youth and allow the judge to consider such evidence in the light of its constitutional weight.” *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 544.

This Court should reverse and remand the decision of the trial court with instructions for Hamilton to be afforded a constitutionally appropriate resentencing hearing.

II. The Trial Court Erred in Holding That South Carolina’s Parole System Provides Constitutionally Adequate Review Under *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, *Miller v. Alabama*, and *Aiken v. Byars*

A. The Parole Board’s Decision-Making Framework Systematically Ignores *Miller* Factors and Disfavors Juvenile Homicide Offenders

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