STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
The Honorable Deadra L. Jefferson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Aug 31 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MARK HAMILTON,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2025-001185

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

R. BRANDON LARRABEE
Assistant Attorney General
State ID No. 104865

Office of the Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6307

SCARLETT WILSON
Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office
101 Meeting Street, Suite 400

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

ARGUMENT

Relevant Facts

The facts of the case below are only relevant in the broadest sense. One witness testified to hearing Hamilton ask another individual in his group “if he was down to slap” the victim, Gary Sineth. (R. p. 120, ll. 17–18). Hamilton also apparently called out for one member of his group to “stop” the victim. (R. p. 121, ll. 2–8; p. 135, ll. 16–23). After the victim was slapped, he apparently ran away from the group. (R. p. 122, ll. 21–24). Eventually, Hamilton and at least one other individual started kicking the victim, who at some point produced a box cutter. (R. p. 124, ll. 7–22; p. 137, l. 23–p. 138, l. 2). The victim apparently cut Hamilton. (R. p. 126, ll. 2–6; p. 137, l. 23–p. 138, l. 2). At that point, Hamilton’s group—but apparently not Hamilton—began attacking the victim with sticks and poles. (R. p. 126, ll. 2–17; p. 138, l. 21–p. 139, l. 2).² The victim died from blunt force trauma. (R. p. 99, ll. 18–19).

Hamilton filed a motion for resentencing in 2023. (R. p. 249). He argued that his life sentence was unconstitutional under a line of juvenile sentencing authority that included the United States Supreme Court decision in *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 183 L. Ed. 2d 407 (2012); the South Carolina Supreme Court decision in *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014); and the United States Supreme Court decision in *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, 577 U.S. 190, 136 S. Ct. 718, 193 L. Ed. 2d 599 (2016). The resentencing court denied his motion for resentencing. (R. p. 248, 257). This appeal followed.

² Some of the testimony, most of it from young witnesses, seems to garble the order of events. One witness, for example, seemed to indicate that the young men started beating the victim before Hamilton was cut. (R. p. 146, l. 21–p. 147, l. 15).

I. The circuit court properly determined that Hamilton, who was not sentenced to life without parole, was not covered by the constitutional restrictions on sentencing juveniles to life without parole.

Hamilton first argues that he should be resentenced because he was less than 18 at the time of the murder. In his view, his life sentence is the “functional equivalent” of LWOP, and for that reason he is entitled to the individualized sentencing consideration required by *Miller* and *Aiken*. He didn’t receive that, he contends, and so he should receive that now.

Our courts have heard many of these arguments before and have rejected them for a simple reason: There is nothing in *Miller*, *Aiken*, or *Montgomery* to support them, and in some respects the language of those decisions flatly contradicts them. Hamilton doesn’t make a convincing case for this Court to change course now.

Start with *Miller*. There, the United States Supreme Court was remarkably clear about its holding. It is spelled out at the end of the first paragraph. “We therefore hold that mandatory life without parole for those under the age of 18 at the time of their crimes violates the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition on ‘cruel and unusual punishments.’” *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 465, 132 S. Ct. at 2460.

Hamilton argues that limiting the application of *Miller* to formal LWOP sentences is “arbitrary” and “untethered from the constitutional concerns underlying *Miller*.” Init. Br. App. at 9 – 10. That’s wrong; in fact, it’s not just wrong, it turns *Miller* upside down. The unique characteristics of a life without parole sentence was one of the Court’s central concerns in *Miller*. The Court there talked at length about how sentencing juveniles to spend the rest of their lives in prison without parole ignored the capacity of children to change with age, weakening arguments that ground penalties in both the state’s interest in incapacitating certain criminals and the need for rehabilitation. *See Miller*, 567 U.S. at 471–73, 132 S. Ct. at 2464–65. “Life without parole

‘forswears altogether the rehabilitative ideal.’ It reflects ‘an irrevocable judgment about [an offender’s] value and place in society,’ *at odds with a child’s capacity for change.*” *Id.* at 473, 132 S. Ct. at 2465 (emphasis added) (internal citation omitted) (quoting *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 74, 130 S. Ct. 2011, 2030, 176 L. Ed. 2d 825 (2010)).

And the Court added another reason to weigh the possibility of LWOP sentences for juveniles differently—the dimensions of the punishment when applied to a juvenile. “Life-without-parole terms, the Court wrote, ‘share some characteristics with death sentences that are shared by no other sentences.’ Imprisoning an offender until he dies alters the remainder of his life ‘by a forfeiture that is irrevocable.’” *Miller*, 567 U.S. at 474–75, 132 S. Ct. at 2466 (citation omitted) (quoting *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 69, 130 S. Ct. at 2027); *see id.* at 476–77, 132 S. Ct. at 2467–68 (pointing out that not only does mandatory LWOP mean juveniles and adults convicted of homicide get the same sentence, but that the sentence is “really, as *Graham* noted, a *greater* sentence than those adults will serve”).

So, *Miller* drew the line between LWOP and other sentences. Not on an arbitrary basis, but because the very chance for a younger offender to change supports the notion that the offender should get an opportunity for parole. *See id.* at 472–73, 132 S. Ct. at 2465.

Nor is there a ruling forbidding life with parole sentences lurking in *Aiken*. In that case, our supreme court was considering whether South Carolina’s discretionary LWOP sentencing scheme was affected by the *Miller* decision. *See Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 541–44, 765 S.E.2d at 576–77. The *Aiken* plurality found that the scheme did require a court to consider five factors when deciding whether to sentence a juvenile to LWOP. But like the U.S. Supreme Court in *Miller*, the *Aiken* plurality demonstrated that its concern was on the potential that juveniles would be sentenced to life without parole without regard for the offender’s youth. *See id.* at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577 (“In

our view, whether their sentence is mandatory or permissible, any juvenile offender *who receives a sentence of life without the possibility of parole* is entitled to the same constitutional protections afforded by the Eighth Amendment's guarantee against cruel and unusual punishment.” (emphasis added)). All of the *Aiken* plurality’s language—for example, its statement that *Miller* “establishes an affirmative requirement that courts fully explore the impact of the defendant's juvenility on the sentence rendered”—must be read against that backdrop. *Id.* at 543, 765 S.E.2d at 577.³

Any lingering doubt about whether there is a constitutional line between life with parole and LWOP sentences was wiped away by *Montgomery*. In *Montgomery*, the United States Supreme Court found that *Miller*’s holding was substantive and retroactive because “it rendered life without parole an unconstitutional penalty for ‘a class of defendants because of their status’—that is, juvenile offenders whose crimes reflect the transient immaturity of youth.” *Montgomery*, 577 U.S. at 208, 136 S. Ct. at 734 (quoting *Penry v. Lynaugh*, 496 U.S. 302, 330, 109 S. Ct. 2934, 2953, 106 L. Ed. 2d 256 (1989)).⁴

But *Montgomery* did not stop there. The Court then suggested one way states with LWOP sentencing schemes that hadn’t yet fallen in line with *Miller* could fix the problem.

A State may remedy a *Miller* violation by permitting juvenile homicide offenders to be considered for parole, rather than by resentencing them. See, e.g., Wyo. Stat. Ann. § 6–10–301(c) (2013) (juvenile homicide offenders eligible for parole after 25 years).

³ In his concurrence, Justice Pleicones specifically noted that he agreed with the dissent on whether *Miller* applied to discretionary schemes like South Carolina’s—but “would reach the same result” under the South Carolina Constitution. See *id.* at 545–46, 765 S.E.2d at 578 (Pleicones, J., concurring).

⁴ The United State Supreme Court defined the class of juveniles covered by *Miller* slightly differently than the *Aiken* plurality. Compare *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 540–41, 765 S.E.2d at 575 (holding that *Miller* “plainly excludes a certain class of defendants—juveniles—from specific punishment—life without parole absent individualized considerations of youth”) with *Montgomery*, 577 U.S. at 208, 136 S. Ct. at 734 (defining the class as “juvenile offenders whose crimes reflect the transient immaturity of youth” sentenced to LWOP).

Allowing those offenders to be considered for parole ensures that juveniles whose crimes reflected only transient immaturity—and who have since matured—will not be forced to serve a disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment.

Id. at 212, 136 S. Ct. at 736.

But neither *Aiken* nor *Montgomery* were the last words from the respective courts.

In *Jones v. Mississippi*, the United States Supreme Court returned to the question of LWOP sentences for juveniles. *See* 593 U.S. 98, 141 S. Ct. 1307, 209 L. Ed. 2d 390 (2021). There, the Court explained that neither *Miller* nor *Montgomery* required “a separate factual finding of permanent incorrigibility.” *Id.* at 104, 141 S. Ct. at 1313. Instead, the Court held, “[i]n a case involving an individual who was under 18 when he or she committed a homicide, a State’s discretionary sentencing system is both constitutionally necessary and constitutionally sufficient.” *Id.* at 105, 141 S. Ct. at 1313. *But see State v. Mack*, 441 S.C. 526, 539, 894 S.E.2d 820, 827 (Ct. App. 2023) (holding that because the *Jones* Court left how to comply with *Miller* to the states, the juvenile’s claims about the consideration of the *Aiken* factors still needed to be considered).

Our supreme court has been asked several times to consider the application of *Miller*, *Aiken*, and similar cases to situations distinct from the sentencing of a juvenile to LWOP. And that court has found that the protections afforded to juveniles under Eighth Amendment precedent are to be narrowly applied. For example, in *Slocumb*, the defendant argued that a combination of term-of-years sentences that almost certainly meant he would spend the rest of his natural life in prison went against the spirit of *Graham* and *Miller*. *See State v. Slocumb*, 426 S.C. 297, 299, 827 S.E.2d 148, 149 (2019). The *Slocumb* Court found that the defendant’s contention was “arguably a reasonable extension of *Graham* and *Miller*.” *Id.* Still, the Court affirmed the sentence in *Slocumb* because “precedent dictates that only the Supreme Court may extend and enlarge the protections guaranteed by the United States Constitution.” *Id.* The Court explained that “while we are duty-

bound to enforce the Eighth Amendment consistent with the Supreme Court's directives, our duty to follow binding precedent is fixed upon case-specific holdings rather than general expressions in an opinion that exceed the scope of any particular holding[.]” *Id.* at 307, 827 S.E.2d at 153.

Not long after, in *State v. Smith*, our supreme court faced the issue of whether a mandatory minimum sentence interfered with the sentencing court’s discretion because, while the sentencing court conducted an *Aiken* hearing, it could not sentence the juvenile to less than the minimum. *See State v. Smith*, 428 S.C. 417, 420, 836 S.E.2d 348, 349 (2019). As it was “again being asked to ignore the confines of the holdings of the Supreme Court and instead extend the rationale underlying the holdings,” the court “decline[d] the invitation and [left] resolution of the reach of the Eighth Amendment, including any possible extensions, to the Supreme Court.” *Id.* at 420–21, 836 S.E.2d at 350.⁵

More recently, in *Jones v. State*, our supreme court ruled that the portion of the law providing for certain juveniles to be tried in circuit court rather than first appearing before family court did not violate the constitution.⁶ *See Jones v. State*, 440 S.C. 14, 18–19, 889 S.E.2d 590, 593 (2023). True enough, the *Jones* court did “direct circuit courts to consider the mitigating factors of

⁵ In a concurrence, Justice Hearn—who authored the plurality opinion in *Aiken*—observed that the defendant in *Smith* received a “thorough hearing” on his youth but argued that “mandatory minimum sentences unconstitutionally restrict the trial court’s ability to analyze the *Miller* factors.” *See id.* at 422, 836 S.E.2d at 350–51 (Hearn, J., concurring). She noted her agreement with the majority on the constitutionality of mandatory minimum sentences. “While enabling trial courts to exercise more discretion in juvenile sentencing may be sound policy, I agree with the majority that the United States Supreme Court has not spoken on this issue.” *Id.* at 422, 836 S.E.2d at 351 (Hearn, J., concurring).

⁶ *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 63-19-20 (West) (“‘Child’ or ‘juvenile’ does not mean a person seventeen years of age or older who is charged with a Class A, B, C, or D felony as defined in Section 16-1-20 or a felony which provides for a maximum term of imprisonment of fifteen years or more.”). When *Jones* was sentenced, 16-year-olds could also be tried in circuit court under this section. *See Jones*, 440 S.C. at 20, 25, 889 S.E.2d at 594, 596–97.

youth in sentencing juveniles falling under the ambit of subsection 63-19-20(1),” *id.* at 29, 889 S.E.2d at 598, and found that the court sentencing Jones had done so, *id.* at 29–31, 889 S.E.2d at 599–600. Acting Justice Hearn, in a concurrence joined by Justice Few, disagreed with the Court on that count. *Id.* at 31–32, 889 S.E.2d at 600 (Hearn, J., concurring). Still, Acting Justice Hearn noted that the circuit court had imposed concurrent, minimum sentences, “thus, a more thorough hearing in this case could not have led to a lesser sentence.” *Id.* at 33, 889 S.E.2d at 600–01 (Hearn, J., concurring).

Summing up, then, federal and state constitutional law makes a few things clear. First, a juvenile cannot be sentenced to LWOP under a mandatory scheme. *See Miller*, 567 U.S. at 465, 132 S. Ct. at 2460. Second, a juvenile sentenced to LWOP under a discretionary scheme—like South Carolina’s—is allowed to have some consideration given to his or her youth in sentencing. *See Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577. Further, relief is retroactive because the decision in *Miller* was substantive. *See Montgomery*, 577 U.S. at 208, 136 S. Ct. at 734. One form of relief is to provide parole. *See id.* at 212, 136 S. Ct. at 736. And South Carolina courts should not extend the rulings in cases like *Miller* and *Montgomery* beyond the boundaries set by the United States Supreme Court. *See Slocumb*, 426 S.C. at 299, 827 S.E.2d at 149; *Smith*, 428 S.C. at 420–21, 836 S.E.2d at 350.

Given that, it’s not surprising that this Court has already rejected claims very similar to Hamilton’s. *See State v. Finley*, 427 S.C. 419, 420–21, 831 S.E.2d 158, 158–59 (Ct. App. 2019). In *Finley*, the defendant argued that (1) his sentence was a de facto LWOP sentence; and (2) the court could not properly consider the *Miller* and *Aiken* factors because of what was at the time a mandatory sentence of life with the possibility of parole. *See id.* at 424, 831 S.E.2d at 160. This Court, though, found that because the defendant was not sentenced to LWOP, he was “not a

member of the class of offenders contemplated by our precedent.” *Id.* at 428, 831 S.E.2d at 162. Additionally, the Court noted that *Montgomery* provided on its face for states complying with *Miller* by allowing juveniles an opportunity for parole. *See id.* at 428, 831 S.E.2d at 162–63. “As [the defendant’s] sentence afforded him parole eligibility we find any potential Eight Amendment violation was cured.” *Id.* at 428, 831 S.E.2d at 163.

And it’s not only South Carolina; other courts have issued similar holdings. *See Lewis v. State*, 428 S.W.3d 860, 863 (Tex. Crim. App. 2014) (“The mandatory nature of a sentencing scheme is not the aspect that precludes rehabilitation; rather, the sentencing scheme in *Miller* was unconstitutional because it denied juveniles convicted of murder all possibility of parole, leaving them no opportunity or incentive for rehabilitation.”); *State v. Brooks*, 247 So. 3d 1071, 1074 (La. App. 2 Cir. 2018) (“Granting parole eligibility to juveniles found guilty of murder satisfies the requirements of *Miller*.”); *State v. Gulley*, 505 P.3d 354, 366 (Kan. 2022) (“Unlike life without parole and the death penalty, life with parole offers ‘hope of restoration’ because it provides an opportunity for release within an offender’s lifetime. Consequently, *Miller* is inapplicable.” (internal citation omitted) (quoting *Graham*, 560 U.S. at 70, 130 S.Ct. at 2027)) (collecting cases).

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